IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 71,638

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellants/Cross-Appellees, National Distributing Co., Inc., doing business as Consolidated Distributing Co., National Wine & Liquor, Consolidated NDC Distributors, Bay South Distributors, Inc., National Wine & Liquor of Palm Beach County, Bay Distributors, Inc., NDC Distributors of Pensacola; and, the Appellants/Cross-Appellees, Tampa Wholesale Liquor Co., Inc., House of Midulla of Southwest Florida, Inc., Grantham Distributing Co, Inc., and Grantham Wine Company, Plaintiffs below, shall be referred to herein as "Appellants" or "the distributors." Appellee/Cross-Appellant, State of Florida, Office of the Comptroller, Defendant below, shall be referred to herein as "Appellee" or as "the State."

References to the record on appeal shall be made by use of the symbols (R:), containing the appropriate page numbers.

iii

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 15, 1987 the Plaintiffs filed a Complaint for Declaratory Relief, For Writ of Mandamus and For Other Relief. (R: 1). The complaint alleged, in pertinent part, that sections 564.06 and 565.12, F.S. (1981-1984 Supp.), imposed unconstitutional taxes upon Appellants, alcoholic beverage distributors, since said statutes unconstitutionally discriminated against interstate commerce by favoring local industry with tax exemptions or preferences. The distributors had each filed with the Comptroller, and with the Division of Alcoholic Beverages and Tobacco, applications for tax refunds for all taxes paid pursuant to §§564.06 and 565.12, F.S., (1981-1984 Supp.), for a three year period preceding each application. National Distributing Co., Inc., filed its applications on June 18, 1985. Tampa Wholesale Liquor Co., Inc., and House of Midulla of Southwest Florida, Inc., filed their applications on May 22, 1986. Grantham Distributing Co., Inc., and Grantham Wine Company filed their applications on April 29, 1986. (R: 686-687).

The applications sought alcoholic beverage excise tax refunds based on the invalidity of the taxing statutes, §§564.06 and 565.12, F.S., (1981-1984 Supp.),

as disclosed by the reasoning and holding of the United States Supreme Court in <u>Bacchus Imports, Ltd. v. Dias,</u> 468 U.S. 263, 104 S.Ct. 3049, 82 L.Ed. 2d 200, (1984).

Each refund application was denied and the distributors petitioned for administrative hearings before the Division of Administrative Hearings. (R: 333-451). Administrative proceedings were commenced but were stayed pending the filing and conclusion of the instant cause before the Circuit Court of Leon County, Florida. See DOAH Case No. 86-0501 through 86-0507, 86-2389, 86-2782; Defendants' Notice of Filing Public Records and Request For Judicial Notice (R: 333-334).

In response to the Complaint filed by the Appellants in the Circuit Court of Leon County, the Appellees filed their Answer on April 20, 1987. (R: 63). In the Answer, Appellees raised certain designated Defenses and Affirmative Defenses, alleging Appellants were estopped to challenge the statutes, were estopped to seek a refund, were barred by laches, and that a prospectiveonly application of unconstitutionality should be decreed, thereby barring the requested refund.

The parties entered into and filed a Stipulation of Facts on April 24, 1987 (R: 124). The Stipulation states as follows:

STIPULATION OF FACTS

The parties, by and through their undersigned counsel, hereby stipulate to the following factual matters solely for the purpose of this pending litigation without waiving any objection to same relating to relevance, materiality or admissibility and without conceding any ground of challenge to the constitutionality of §§564.06 and 565.12, Florida Statutes:

1. For each unit of product sold by Plaintiffs to licensed retail vendors during the period for which refunds are sought, the taxes for which refunds are sought were an element of the sales prices charged for each such unit of product, in addition to all other costs, taxes, and overhead expenses incurred by Plaintiffs with respect to the sale of such units of product, and in addition to the profit included by Plaintiffs in the determination of the sales prices for such units of product.

2. For each unit of product sold to licensed retail vendors during the refund period, the total purchase price, of which the taxes for which refunds are sought were an element, became a debt due from the retail vendors to Plaintiffs for units of product sold to retail

vendors and, upon delivery of the products, became collectible as any other debt due to Plaintiffs.

3. During the refund period, Plaintiffs bore the legal incidence of taxes due under sections 564.06 and 565.12, F.S., and were legally liable to remit such taxes to the State of Florida regardless of whether vendors which purchased beverages from Plaintiffs ever paid to Plaintiffs all monies owing for the beverages purchased. However, for the purpose of this stipulation, Plaintiffs do not contend that they were not paid in full for all beverages delivered to licensed retail vendors during the period for which tax refunds are sought in these proceedings.

4. During the refund period Plaintiffs other than National Distributing Co. paid beverage excise taxes on products in which they dealt, which products were not exempt or partially exempt from the tax, without protesting the payment of the tax, without voicing question to the State regarding constitutionality of the provisions of §564.06 and §565.12, F.S., (1981-1984 Supp.), and without advising that refund of such taxes might be sought by Plaintiffs based on the alleged unconstitutionality of those statutes. National Distributing Co. never questioned the constitutionality

of those statutes, protested payment of the tax or voiced any questions to the state regarding the constitutionality of the statutes until February, 1985.

5. The provisions of sections 564.06 and 565.12, F.S., (1981-1984 Supp.), effective for the requested refund period, on their face uniformly imposed the stated beverage taxes and exemptions on all manufacturers, distributors and vendors who manufactured, distributed or sold the taxed products; and, the statutory exemptions provided from taxes for certain products were available to all manufacturers, distributors and vendors who manufactured, distributed or sold the exempt products.

6. The beverage excise taxes remitted by Plaintiffs during the refund period where deposited to the General Revenue Fund of the State Treasury. For purposes of this case, Plaintiffs do not contest Defendant's allegation that said taxes were appropriated and expended.

7. TAMPA WHOLESALE LIQUOR CO. and HOUSE OF MIDULLA OF SOUTHWEST FLORIDA sold and distributed the following gallonage amounts of spiritous beverages and wines which were totally exempt or partially exempt from the beverages taxes imposed by sections 564.06 and 565.12, Florida Statutes:

* * * [Lengthy gallonage data deleted]

8. The attached exhibits 1 and 2 are accurate statements of the matters reported therein.

9. GRANTHAM DISTRIBUTING CO. together with GRANTHAM WINE CO., sold and distributed the following gallonage amounts of spiritous beverages and wines which were totally exempt or partially exempt from the beverage taxes imposed by sections 564.06 and 565.12, F.S.:

YEAR	LIQUOR	WINE
1981 1982	453,962 499,263	1,008 5,342
1983	471,707	2,697
1984	799 , 192	2,736
1985	188,918	17,145

10. The attached exhibits 3 and 4 are accurate statements of the matters reported therein.

11. NATIONAL DISTRIBUTING CO., INC., doing business through its various fictitious entities or subsidiaries, sold and distributed the following gallonage amounts of spiritous beverages and wines which were totally exempt or partially exempt from the beverage taxes imposed by sections 564.06 and 565.12, F.S.:

* * * [Lengthy gallonage data deleted]
 12. The attached exhibits numbered 5 though 11 are
 accurate statements of the matters reported therein.

[end of Stipulation of Facts (R: 128)]

The exhibits attached to the stipulation, and referred to in paragraph 12 thereof, set forth the amounts of taxes paid to the Division of Alcoholic Beverages and Tobacco by each Appellant distributor and shows, in pertinent part, by calculation, the following for each distributor's refund period:

	TOTAL TAXES PAID PURSUANT TO §564.06 AND §565.12, F.S.,	DIFFERENCE BETWEEN TOTAL AMOUNT PAID AND	
DISTRIBUTOR	(1981-1984 SUPP)	EXEMPT RATE	
Grantham Distributing Co.	\$10,939,357.75	\$3,908,151.68	
Grantham Wine Co.	\$10,506,943.45	\$10,506,943.45	
Tampa Wholesale Liquor Co., Inc.	\$28,945,537.54	\$18,103,381.80	
House of Midulla of Southwest Florida, Inc.	\$ 4,674,070.37	\$ 2,973,447.83	
National Distributing Company, Inc., d/b/a (Aggregate)	154,204,144.30	\$84,385,741.39	
On August 11, 1987 the Appellees filed Defendants'			
Corrected Motion For Summary Judgment, (R: 452) relying			
on the Stipulation of Facts (R: 124) and certain			
affidavits filed April 21	, 1987 (R: 72,112)	. Hearing was	
set on Defendants' Corrected Motion For Summary Judgment			
for October 23, 1987.			

On October 1, 1987, the Appellants, Plaintiffs below, filed Plaintiffs' Motion For Partial Summary Judgment requesting the trial court to determine and declare that Sections 564.06 and 565.12, F.S. (1981-1984 Supp.), were unconstitutional on their face and void <u>ab</u> <u>initio</u> as they pertained to Plaintiff distributors. (R: 480).

Plaintiffs resisted Defendant's request for summary judgment as to the determination of Defendant's affirmative defenses on the grounds that Defendants had failed to demonstrate the non-existance of all material facts pertinent to Defendant's "pass-on" defense, and Defendant's claim that Plaintiffs lacked standing to seek a refund. (R: 515-529).

On October 23, 1987 hearing was held on the Defendants' Corrected Motion For Summary Judgment and on the Plaintiffs' Motion For Partial Summary Judgment. Pursuant to said hearing, Final Summary Judgment was entered by the Honorable Charles E. Miner, Jr., on November 3, 1987 and filed on November 4, 1987. (R: 686).

In the order of Final Summary Judgment, the trial court found that there existed no disputed material facts. The court found that Plaintiffs did remit the subject alcoholic beverage taxes during the periods for

which refunds were sought. The trial court further concluded that Plaintiffs were entitled to challenge sections 564.06 and 565.12, F.S. (1981-1984 Supp.), and to receive a declaration as to their constitutionality (R: 688). The Court also found that Plaintiffs were not barred by laches or estoppel in seeking the relief prayed for in the action below. (R: 690).

The Honorable Charles E. Miner, Jr., presiding below, declared that the tax preferences granted to Florida - produced alcoholic beverages under §\$564.06 and 565.12, F.S. (1981-1984 Supp.), violated the Commerce Clause of Article I, §8, of the Constitution of the United States. The unconstitutionality of the challenged statutes was never contested by Appellee.¹

However, in the Final Summary Judgment, Judge Miner concluded that the entire statutes were not rendered invalid by the discriminatory provisions. Rather, the court severed the exemptions, holding the remaining tax provisions of each statute to be valid. The order also

¹ The Defendants' Corrected Motion for summary judgment states "[t]he Comptroller finds no distinguishing factors which would lead to the conclusion that the analysis in <u>Bacchus Imports, Ltd.</u> <u>v. Dias, supra, would not have applied with equal force to the</u> provisions of §§564.06 and 565.12, Florida Statutes, as they stood prior to July 1, 1985." (R: 453).

decreed that such ruling would be applied prospectively only, based on "the facts" and on the court's further findings that the Supreme Court decision in <u>Bacchus</u> <u>Imports, Ltd. v. Dias</u>, <u>supra</u>, constituted a break with established precedent, that the State reasonably relied upon the validity of the tax, and that the Plaintiffs never voiced concern to the State regarding the validity of the statutes until 1985.² (R: 689-690).

On November 23, 1987, the Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal to the District Court of Appeal, First District, from the November 4, 1987, Final Summary Judgment. (R: 692). The Appellee/Cross-Appellant filed its Notice of Cross Appeal on November 30, 1987. (R: 694).

Also, on November 30, 1987, the Appellee/Cross-Appellant filed with the District Court of Appeal, First District, a Suggestion of Certification pursuant to Rule 9.125, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, to which the District Court of Appeal responded with its December 21, 1987, Order certifying the appeal. (See record in District Court of Appeal case no. 87-1859).

² Appellant National Distributing Co., Inc., protested payment under the subject statutes in February of 1985. (R: 125,688). National's refund application was filed in June of 1985. (R: 687)

On December 23, 1987 this Honorable Court entered its Order Accepting Jurisdiction, Establishing Briefing Schedule and Setting Oral Argument. (See record in this case).

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO HOLD §§564.06 AND 565.12, FLORIDA STATUTES (1981-1984 SUPP.), UNCONSTITUTIONAL <u>IN TOTO</u> AND, INSTEAD, SEVERING ONLY THE TAX EXEMPTIONS AND PREFERENCES, AS INVALID, FROM THE REMAINING PROVISIONS.
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE DECLARATION OF UNCONSTITUTIONALITY OF §\$564.06 AND 565.12, FLORIDA STATUTES (1981-1984 SUPP.), SHALL BE PROSPECTIVE IN OPERATION THEREBY DENYING ANY TAX REFUND TO APPELLANTS.
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANTS ANY TAX REFUND OR REMEDY FOR THE IMPOSITION UPON APPELLANTS OF UNCONSTITUTIONALLY DISCRIMINATORY TAXES.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in its ruling that only the alcoholic beverage excise tax exemptions and preferences favoring Florida industry contained in sections 564.06 and 565.12, Florida Statutes, (1981-1984 Supp.), are unconstitutional in violation of the Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution. The entire taxing scheme set forth in the challenged statutes is unconstitutional since it discriminated against Appellants by conferring the detriment of a higher tax rate on non-Florida produced or grown products in order to subsidize the Florida-grown products industry. These higher taxes paid by Appellants were required by taxing provisions clearly set in compensation for and in consideration of the impermissible tax benefits to local industry contained in the same statutory provisions. Therefore, severance is not proper under Florida Law. The U.S. Supreme Court in Bacchus Imports, Ltd. v. Dias, infra, rejected severance as a remedy under circumstances virtually identical to those in the instant case.

Nor should the trial court have declared the unconstitutionality of provisions of section 564.06 and 565.12, F.S. (1981-1984 Supp.), to be prospective only as to these Appellants who were the actual litigants who

challenged and first received the declaration of invalidity pertaining to sections 564.06 and 565.12, Florida Statutes. The weight of authority previously issued by this Court requires that any ruling of unconstitutionality not be prospective as to these Appellants and not be utilized to deprive these Appellants of the requested refund of excise taxes.

A remedy for the subjection of Appellants to the unconstitutional taxes is required, for to do otherwise is to perpetuate the very constitutional violation condemned by the United States Supreme Court and by the trial court below. That remedy, according to the U.S. Supreme Court and according to the refund provisions of Florida law, is a full refund of the discriminatory taxes paid by Appellants. The refund is both authorized and mandated under the circumstances of this case.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO HOLD SECTIONS 564.06 AND 565.12, FLORIDA STATUTES (1981-1984 SUPP.), UNCONSTITUTIONAL IN TOTO AND, INSTEAD, SEVERING ONLY THE TAX EXEMPTIONS AND PREFERENCES, AS INVALID, FROM THE REMAINING PROVISIONS.

Sections 564.06 and 565.12, Florida Statutes (1981-1984 Supp.), challenged by Appellants in the trial court, each granted tax-preferred treatment to alcoholic beverages made from specific agricultural products grown in Florida and manufactured and bottled in Florida.

On June 29, 1984, the Supreme Court of the United States held that states may not constitutionally utilize a taxing scheme which, through purpose or effect, discriminates against interstate commerce by providing direct commercial advantage to local business or industry. <u>Bacchus Imports, Ltd. v. Dias</u>, 468 U.S. 263, 104 S.Ct. 3049, 82 L.Ed.2d 200 (1984).

The <u>Bacchus</u> decision arose in the context of a challenge to an Hawaiian statute, Haw.Rev.Stat. 244-4 which, in part, exempted from alcoholic beverage taxes

Okolehao brandy (distilled only from the root of a shrub indigenous to Hawaii), Haw.Rev.Stat. 244-4(6) and "[a]ny fruit wine manufactured in the State from products grown in the State...." Haw.Rev.Stat 244-4(7).

The Supreme Court in <u>Bacchus</u> held that the statutes violated the long-standing proscription against states' imposing "'...a tax which discriminates against interstate commerce ... by providing a direct commercial advantage to local business.'" <u>Id.</u>, 104 S.Ct. at 3054. The Court further held that such violation was not alleviated by the intent to encourage new industries or help ailing ones. <u>Id.</u> at 3056-3057. Nor was the violation found to be alleviated by the existence of the Twenty-First Amendment to the Constitution. <u>Id.</u> at 3058, 3059. The Supreme Court explained:

> Approaching the case in this light, we are convinced that Hawaii's discriminatory tax cannot stand. Doubts about the scope of the Amendment's authorization notwithstanding, one thing is certain: The central purpose of the provision was not to empower States to favor local industries by erecting barriers to competition. [Id. at 3058]

The United States Supreme Court reversed the Hawaii Supreme Court and held that the statute "...violated the Commerce Clause because it had both the purpose and effect of discriminating in favor of local products." [Id. at 3057; footnote omitted].

In so ruling, the Court noted:

Virtually every discriminatory statute allocates benefits or burdens unequally; each can be viewed as conferring a benefit on one party and a detriment on the other, in either an absolute or relative sense. The determination of constitutionality does does not depend upon whether one focuses upon the benefitted or the burdened party. A discrimination claim, by its nature, requires a comparison of the two classifications, and it could always be said that there was no intent to impose a burden on one party, but rather the intent was to confer a benefit on the other.[Id. at 3057].

The Supreme Court refused to hold only the exemption portion of the statute to be invalid and refused to sever the exemptions from the remainder of the tax statute. As one basis for its refusal the Court noted that the challenged exemptions had expired and severance would, therefore, provide no remedy for the past harm inflicted by the discriminatory provisions. Id. at 3054.

In the instant case, the trial court found that, based on the holding and rationale of <u>Bacchus Imports,</u> <u>Ltd. v. Dias, supra</u>, sections 564.06 and 565.12, F.S. (1981-1984 Supp.), in providing tax preferences to Florida-produced alcoholic beverages, violated the Commerce Clause of Article I, §8, of the Constitution of the United States. (R: 688) The unconstitutionality of these provisions, virtually identical to those held unconstitutional in Bacchus, was not challenged by

Appellee. (R: 453). However, in contrast to the United States Supreme Court's refusal to sever the preferences out of the statutes and hold only the preferences invalid, the trial court in the instant case did just that. Appellants assert that such action by the trial court was in error in light of the ruling of the Supreme Court in <u>Bacchus</u> and in light of Florida law governing when severance is proper. The trial court should have stricken sections 564.06 and 565.12, F.S. (1981-1984 Supp.), in their entirety and granted Appellants' requests for refunds of taxes paid thereunder.

In determining when a portion of a general law, containing unconstitutional features, may be severed and deleted, and the remainder left intact, this Court has required that the portion declared to contain the unconstitutional feature be logically separable from the remaining valid provisions; that the Legislative purpose expressed in the valid provision still be capable of being accomplished independently; that an act complete in itself remains; <u>and</u>, that it can be said the Legislature would have passed the valid provisions without the invalid provisions. <u>Presbyterian Homes of the Synod of Florida v. Wood</u>, 297 So.2d 556, 559 (Fla. 1974); <u>Cramp.</u> v. Board of Public Instruction of Orange County, 137

So.2d 828 (Fla. 1962).

In making such severability inquiry, it is therefore imperative that the court determine that there is, indeed, both an invalid portion of the statute and a valid one. Appellants assert that the trial Court erred in this respect in declaring that the only invalid provisions of sections 564.06 and 565.12, F.S. (1981-1984 Supp.), were the exemptions or preferences.

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