0/83-4-88

28/

COURT

JAN

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court declared the Florida products tax exemptions of former sections 564.06 and 565.12, Florida Statutes (1981 -1984 Supp.) to be in violation of the Commerce Clause of Article I, §8, of the Constitution of the United States. However, the trial court declared those exemption provisions to be severed from the remaining provisions of former sections 546.06 and 565.12, Florida Statutes. Furthermore, the trial court exercised its rightful discretion to give its decree of unconstitutionality application only from the date of judgment forward. The effect of that decision is to deny the refunds of beverage taxes which the distributors seek. Assuming that the trial court was correct addressing the merits of the distributors' claims in unconstitutionality as to the Florida products exemptions of former sections 564.06 and 565.12, Florida Statutes (1981 - 1984 Supp.), the trial court's determination to make its ruling prospective in operation only is well within that court's realm of discretion, is amply supported by the uncontested facts of record, and ought to be sustained.

The complaint brought by the distributors sought declaratory relief, mandatory injunctive relief and a writ of mandamus, the latter two remedies to compel a refund of all alcoholic beverage taxes remitted during the refund period. Those claims either sound in equity or are governed by the principles of equity. Standard Newspapers, Inc. v. Woods, 110 So.2d 397(Fla. 1959); Tampa Waterworks Co. v. State, 77 Fla. 705, 82 So. 230 (1919). The decision in Great Northern R. Co. v. Sunburst Oil & Refining

Co., 287 U.S. 358, 53 S.Ct. 145, 77 L.Ed. 360 (1932), confirmed the power of the courts, particularly in matters of equity, to give prospective-only application to their judgments and decrees without any offense to the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States. In the decades since that decision, scores of federal and state courts have exercised their discretion to do so in cases involving the constitutionality of tax statutes and other laws and even in cases involving relief from violations of the Civil Rights Acts.

The facts in this case show not only that the trial court's decision to make its ruling purely prospective is well within the mainstream of such decisions, but, in fact, that the equities are so much in favor of the State that to do otherwise would be tantamount to an abuse of discretion.

The distributors relied solely upon the decisions in Bacchus Imports, Ltd. v. Dias, 468 U.S. 263, 104 S.Ct. 3049, 82 L.Ed.2d 200 (hereinafter "Bacchus") (1984)and Metropolitan Life Insurance Co. v. Ward, 470 U.S. 869, 105 S.Ct. 1676, 84 L.Ed.2d 751 (1985), (hereinafter "Ward"), in support of their claims that the former Florida products exemptions were unconstitutional under the Commerce Clause and the Equal Protection Clause of the Bacchus reversed precedents which had Fourteenth Amendment. stood for decades and which had held that the States exercised plenary power over the taxation and regulation of alcholic beverages sold within their boundaries, unfettered by Commerce Clause restraints. A strenuous dissent in Bacchus characterized the majority position as a "totally novel approach to the Twenty-

first Amendment". Bacchus, supra, 104 S.Ct. at 3064. stronger dissent in Ward characterized the majority opinion as "astonishing". Ward, supra, 105 S.Ct. at 1684. The State therefore reasonably relied upon the tax structure created by former §§564.06 and 565.12, Florida Statutes (1981 - 1984 The distributors themselves relied upon and took extensive advantage of the Florida products exemptions which now serve as the basis for the assertions of unconstitutionality which underlie their tax refund claims. The distributors did not suffer the financial burden of the beverage taxes. Instead, they passed the cost of the tax on to their customers in full. After Bacchus, Florida acted promptly and substantially modified the Florida products exemptions of §§564.06 and 565.12, Florida Statutes.

The trial court was thus fully warranted in giving prospective-only effect to its decree.

The case for not giving tax refunds to the distributors is even stronger than the trial court recognized. While the ultimate result reached by the trial court (no refunds) is correct, the court erred in giving any hearing at all to the distributors' constitutional arguments regarding the Florida products exemptions and erred in reaching constitutional issues in its judgment. The trial court erred in failing to recognize that estoppel and laches bar the distributors from now challenging the constitutionality of the former Florida products exemptions in order to obtain tax refunds.

The undisputed facts in this case show that the distributors made the voluntary choice to deal in beverages eligible for the former Florida products exemptions, and claimed and received the benefit of the favorable tax treatment for such beverages throughout the refund period. By doing so, the distributors garnered to themselves tax benefits exceeding ten million dollars during the refund period. The law is clear that one who voluntarily avails himself of the benefits of a statute is later estopped from challenging the statute's validity. That principle applies here. The trial court erred in not applying it, because it incorrectly applied cases which hold that one compelled to comply with a statute is not estopped from challenging it. There is no such compulsion upon the distributors here.

trial court further erred in holding that distributors have standing to challenge the constitutionality of the former provisions of §§564.06 and 565.12, Florida Statutes, in order to seek refunds of taxes paid under those provisions. This Court has taken the position that one who has not borne the financial burden of an excise tax lacks standing to seek a refund of the tax under §215.26, Florida Statutes. The facts in this case demonstrate that these distributors fully passed financial burden of the tax on to their customers and did not themselves bear its financial burden. The distributors have no injury as taxpayers, and thus no standing, to claim a refund of taxes for which they have already been made whole by their customers. The trial court incorrectly refused to follow Florida precedent on this point because that court made the mistake of confusing standing to seek prospective relief as to an existing statute having ongoing application to one's business interests with standing to seek a refund of taxes previously paid under now-defunct statutory provisions where one has already been made whole for the taxes paid. Competitive or business injury, while supplying standing to enjoin existing statute, can not be used as a basis for seeking past damages for business injury from the past effects of a statute. In failing to discern the distinction between those concepts, the trial court erred.

Even more fundamentally, the distributors suffered no competitive injury because they themselves took advantage of the Florida products exemptions and thereby put themselves in a favorable competitive posture relative to distributors who dealt only in beverages not qualifying for the tax preference.

In sum, trial court's denial of tax refunds is correct. However, this Court ought to affirm the result on the additional grounds of estoppel, laches and lack of taxpayer standing.

POINT I.

THE LOWER COURT'S DECISION TO MAKE ITS DECLARATION OF INVALIDITY OPERATIVE ONLY FROM THE DATE OF JUDGMENT FORWARD IS SUPPORTED BY THE FACTS AND WELL WITHIN THE REALM OF ITS EQUITABLE DISCRETION.

The Comptroller here addresses all points presented in the distributors' initial brief. Those points are all interrelated and turn, finally, upon whether the trial court abused its equitable discretion in fashioning equitable relief which operates only prospectively from the date of judgment. The Comptroller asserts that the decision of the trial court to give only prospective effect to its declaration of unconstitutionality is well within the established mainstream in cases such as this, is amply supported by the record and ought to be sustained. The distributors have shown no abuse of discretion, which is the standard they must meet for reversal. 1

¹ The trial court's decision to give only prospective application to its decision moots the controversy over whether its remedy of severing the former Florida products exemptions was correct. Since the judgment operates only prospectively, the distributors are not entitled to refunds regardless of the severance issue. See, e.g., City of Los Angeles, Dep't of Water & Power v. Manhart, 435 U.S. 702, 98 S.Ct. 1370, 55 L.Ed.2d 657 (1978) (prospective only declaration of Title VII violation means no refund of previously remitted retirement contributions to class); Metropolitan Life Insurance Co. v. Commissioner of Insurance, 373 N.W.2d 399, 408 - 411 (N.D. 1985) (prospective-only declaration of unconstitutionality as to tax exemption means no refund of taxes previously paid.). Nevertheless, the Comptroller notes that the trial court's decision that the offending tax exemptions were severable from the flat tax provisions of former §§564.06, 565.12, Florida Statutes (1981 - 1984 Supp.) corresponds with remedies deemed appropriate when similar issues were presented in other tax cases. E.g., Delta Airlines, Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 455 So.2d 317 (Fla. 1984). The distributors misconstrue the opinion in Bacchus Imports, Ltd. v. Dias, 468 U.S. 263, 104 S.Ct. 3049, 82 L.Ed.2d 200 (1984) on this point. The Bacchus

The decision in Great Northern Ry. Co. v. Sunburst Oil & Refining Co., 287 U.S. 358, 53 S.Ct. 145, 77 L.Ed. 360 (1932) laid to rest any lingering debate over the power of the courts, particularly in matters of equity, to fashion their decrees in decrees would manner that those operate retroactive effect, even in the case under consideration. the advent of that decision, scores of courts, both state and federal, have exercised their equitable discretion to do so. courts have done so in cases involving the constitutionality of tax statutes and tax exemptions. Gulesian v. Dade Cty. Sch. Bd., 281 So.2d 325 (Fla. 1973); Metropolitan Life Insurance Co. v. Commissioner of Insurance, 373 N.W.2d 399 (N.D. 1985). They have done so in cases involving enforcement of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the enforcement of which receives special deference. E.g., City of Los Angles, Dep't of Water & Power v. Manhart, supra n.1; Arizona Governing Committee for Tax-Deferred Annuity & Deferred Compensation Plans v. Norris, 463 U.S. 1073, 103 S.Ct. 3492, 77 L.Ed.2d 1236 (1983) (hereinafter "Norris"). They have even done so in cases involving the First Amendment to the Constitution of the United States. Lemon v. Kurtzman, 411 U.S. 192, 93 S.Ct. 1463, 36 L.Ed.2d 151 (1973). This Court has done so in the case of tax refund suits brought on the basis that the statute levying

¹ Cont.

case held only that possible severance as a remedy would not remove competitive injury standing to challenge the statute. Bacchus expressly declined to decide whether refunds were appropriate, 104 S.Ct. 3049 at 3059, and no issue of whether a prospective-only ruling or severance was appropriate was decided in that case.

The trial court was thus theoretically correct that severance was an appropriate remedy, though it need not have reached that question.

the tax was unconstitutional. <u>Gulesian v. Dade County Sch. Bd., supra.</u> Another Florida court has done so in a case involving interest on fees paid into the public treasury under a statute declared to be unconstitutional. <u>International Studio Ap't Ass'n. v. Lockwood</u>, 421 So.2d 1119 (Fla. 3d. DCA 1982) <u>pet. for rev. den.</u> 430 So.2d 451 (Fla. 1983).

In Metropolitan Life Insurance Co. v. Commissioner of Insurance, supra, the court held unconstitutional North Dakota's tax preference for domestic insurance companies. However, the court refused to give retrospective application to its ruling, denied the plaintiffs' demands for refunds of previously paid under the statute. The decision in that case is instructive here. The North Dakota court denied tax refunds to the plaintiffs because: (1) the decision of the United States Supreme Court in Metropolitan Life Insurance Co. v. Ward, supra, which occasioned the North Dakota decision, constituted a newly announced principle of constitutional law and the state therefore was justified in relying upon the presumed constitutionality of the statute in question; (2) the state acted to address the constitutional defect announced in the Ward decision; (3) prior statute had long been in effect without protest before the Ward decision; (4) serious economic dislocation for the state would have occurred by the imposition of retroactive relief; and (5) the plaintiffs had not shown real injury as taxpayers because they had shifted all or most of the financial burden of the tax to their customers in the form of higher prices and thus would receive an unjustified windfall by the granting of refunds.

Each of those considerations applies with even more compelling force here.

A.

BACCHUS IMPORTS, LTD. v. DIAS WAS A NEW PRINCIPLE OF LAW

The majority holding in Bacchus was accompanied by a strong dissent which characterized the majority's decision as a clear departure from prior decisions and a "totally novel approach to the Twenty-first Amendment". Bacchus Imports Ltd. v. Dias, 468 U.S. 263, 104 S.Ct. 3049, 3064, 82 L.Ed.2d 200 (1984). characterization is well supported. For decades prior to the Bacchus case, the United States Supreme Court had rebuffed Commerce Clause challenges to the States' taxation and regulatory laws which favored local alcoholic beverage industries, and did so on the express ground that the Twenty-first Amendment removed Commerce Clause strictures on the States in regard to the regulation of the sale and distribution of alcoholic beverages. State Bd. of Equalization v. Young's Mkt. Co., 299 U.S. 59, 57 S.Ct. 77, 81 L.Ed. 38 (1936); Mahoney v. Joseph Triner Corp., 304 U.S. 401, 58 S.Ct. 952, 82 L.Ed. 1424 (1938); Indianapolis Brewing Co. v. Liquor Control Comm'n of State of Michigan, 305 U.S. 391, 59 S.Ct. 254, 83 L.Ed. 243 (1939). Thus, the Bacchus decision constituted a new principle of law. See Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. v. Commissioner of Insurance, supra; Gulesian v. Dade County Sch. Bd., supra; International Studio Ap't Ass'n. v. Lockwood, supra. Similarly, the four justices who dissented in Metropolitan Life Insurance Co. v. Ward, supra, upon which the distributors now rely for their equal protection challenge,

characterized the majority <u>Ward</u> opinion as "astonishing." 105 S.Ct. at 1684. (O'CONNOR, BRENNAN, MARSHALL and REHNQUIST, J.J., dissenting). Indeed, the Courts of this State long ago upheld the very statutes at issue here against an equal protection challenge. <u>Faircloth v. Old Mr. Boston Distiller Corp.</u>, 245 So.2d 240 (Fla. 1970). None of the distributors ever protested the tax as being constitutionally suspect; they never questioned it, never challenged it.

В.

THE STATE JUSTIFIABLY RELIED UPON THE VALIDITY OF ITS TAX STATUTES

Just as North Dakota justifiably relied upon the long and unprotested existence of its tax format, Metropolitan Life Ins.

Co. v. Commissioner of Insurance, supra, Florida justifiably relied upon the tax format for alcoholic beverages in place prior to Bacchus. Until the advent of Bacchus the general wisdom was that the Twenty-first Amendment removed Commerce Clause restrictions on the States' taxation and regulation of alcoholic beverages imported into the States for consumption.

C.

THE STATE'S PROMPT ACTION

As soon as the <u>Bacchus</u> decision was issued, the Division of Alcoholic Beverages attempted to comply with it. The executive branch was enjoined from doing so. In the next ensuing legislative session after the <u>Bacchus</u> opinion issued, the legislature substantially amended the exemptions, removing the offensive "Florida-grown-and-bottled" concept.

THE LACK OF EQUITY IN THE DISTRIBUTORS

Metroplitan Life Ins. Even more so than in Co. v. Commissioner of Insurance, supra, this record demonstrates unequivocally that these distributors did not suffer the burden of the taxes for which they seek refunds; they passed that burden on directly and totally to their customers. Granting a refund would constitute a windfall and should not be countenanced. is particularly true when one considers that these self-same distributors actually sought out and enjoyed the benefits of the exemptions in the millions of dollars.

Clearly, under the circumstances of this case, the trial court was free to weigh the equities in favor of the public interest and refuse refunds to these distributors. Indeed, when one arrays the cases opting for prospective-only relief along a continuum from cases where the equities are least favorable to the State to cases where the equities are most favorable to the State, this case falls so clearly at the latter extreme that to do other than what the trial court did would be tantamount to an abuse of discretion.

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